Key i Fugitt et al

Doc

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
STATESBORO DIVISION
RAMIE KEY,
Plaintiff, CIVIL ACTION NO.: 6:14cv-39
V.

CHRISTOPHER KIGHT

Defendant

ORDER and MAGISTRATE JUDGE'S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

This matter is before the Court drlaintiffs damages award after entry of default
judgment against Defendant Kight. The Court conducted an evidentiary hearimg amatter
on February 21, 2017. For the reasons and in the maenfath below, IRECOMMEND the
Court GRANT Plaintiff's Motion for Default andAWARD damagesfees, and costs the
amount 0f$289,367.5%gainst Defendant Kight and in favor of Plaintiff.

BACKGROUND

Plaintiff, who is currently housed at Augusta State Medical Prison in Grovetown
Georgia, filed this cause of action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to contest certain condlitions
his confinement while he was housed at Rogers State Prison in ReidsviligjiaGg®oc. 1.)
Plaintiff alleged Charles Fugitpreviously named as a Defendant in this casd, Defendant
Kight, used excessive force against Plaintiff on May 19, 2@hi#e in their former capacésas
correctional officeremployed bythe GeorgiaDepartment of Corrections.ld( at p.4.) In his
Amended ComplaintPlaintiff contended Fugitt an®efendantKight questioned him about

having consumedcontraband and Defendant Fugitt became “increasingly hostile and
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belligerent” during this questiongn ©oc. 7,p. 3.) Plaintiff was handcuffed behind his back at
the conclsion of the questioning, and Officer Michael Hartmeyer initially escorfathti?f
down a hallway. Plaintiff was compliant with Hartmeyer and did not resist in agy Rugitt
and Defendant Kightwalked with Plaintiff and Hartmeyeinto the hallway while Fugitt
continued his verbal assault of Plaintififlaintiff spoke back to Fugitt. Id. at p. 4.) Plaintiff
contended once he was through an opened doorvWagitt and Defendant Kightforcefully
moved Hartmeyer aside and tooéntrol” of Plaintiff. (d.) Plaintiff remained handcuffed and
was not physically resisting Fugitt or Defendant KighEugtt and Defendant Kightook
Plaintiff by the arms, exchanged amta, swept Plaintiff'$eet from under himand “forcefully
slammed [Plaintiff's] face into the concrete fldor(ld. at p. 5.) Fugitt and Defendant Kight
both pressed a hand in Plaintiff's back before they slammed his face into the tioas te
maximize the amount of force with which” Plaintiff's face would hit the flootd.)( Plaintiff
remained unconscious and immobile on the floor, and had teabsferred ta local hospital
and therAugusta State Medical Prison to receive treatment for husieg. (d. at p. 6.)

As a result of thisise of force, Plaintifuffered a broken orbital bone in his right eye, a
broken nasal bone, injuries to his back and neck, dungbing of several teeth. Id.) The
Georgia Department of Corrections inveatgd Fugitt's and Defendant Kightisse of force
against Plaintiff and found the use of fotoebe unnecessary and excessivd. dt p. 7.) Fugitt
and Defendant Kight were terminated from their employment with the GeorgiarDepa of
Corrections and were indicted on charges of aggravated batteéryiolation of oath by a public
officer. (d. at pp. /A8.) Fugitt and Defendant Kiglgntered pleaso each of these charges

pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S 25 (197@). &t p. 8 Doc. %3; Doc. 7-4)




Plaintiff filed his Complaint on May 9, 2014, and he filed his Amended Complaint orj
May 22, 2014. Fugitt filed his Answer on June 23, 2014. (Doc. 9.) Defendant Kight filed h
Answer on September 19, 2014. (Doc. 11.) On August 10, 2015, the Honorable J. Randal |
approved Plaintiff's and Fugitt's consent judgment antered judgment against Fugitin his
individual capacity, for compensatory damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees dff' ®ldaims in
the amount ofThree Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000) (Doc. 19, p. 1 (bold in
original).) By this same Order, Judge Hall directed Plaintiff and Defendant Kight to submit
status report and a proposed scheduling order within ten (10)ofldys Order. Id. at p. 2.)
Plaintiff attempted to locate and correspond with Defendagttt regarding this report but was
unable to do so, despite good faith efforts. Thus, the Court allowed Plaintiff an addition
fourteen (14) days to submit a status report and, if he was still unabtntact Defendant
Kight, to submit his own status report within twemtye (21) days. (Doc. 22.)

In an effort to contact Defendant KiglR|aintiff had a process server locate Defendant
Kight. Defendant Kight was servedth a copy of the Court’s moseécent Order and was given
Plaintiff's attorney’s telephone number. (Doc.-23p. 2.) Defendant Kight did not contact
Plaintiff's attorney, and Plaintiff filed a unilateral status report on &epéer 11, 2015, asking
the Court to strike Defendant KightAnswer ando ente default (Doc. 23.) TheCourt issued
an Order on September 17, 2015, directing Defendant Kight to show causéing, as to why
the Court should not strike his Answer and enter default. (Doc. 24.) When the deadline
Defendant Kight to respond to the Court’'s Order expired, Plaintiff moved for ehtigfault.
(Doc. 25.) The Courgranted Plaintiff's Motion, directed the Clerk of Court to stiidefendant
Kight's Answerand enter default against hiand directed Platiff to file a motion for default

judgment within thirty (30) days of the entry of default. (Doc. 26, p. 3.) The Clerk of Cour
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entered default on October 22, 2015, (doc. 2nd Plaintiff filed his Motion for Default
Judgmentpursuant to Federal Rulef Civil Procedure 55(b)(2) on November 20, 2015.
(Doc. 30.) Plaintiff attached to his Motion: 1) his own declarations; 2) the declaration. of Di
Elizabeth Miller; 3) video surveillance of the use of force incident; 4) an audio negavtlia
sworn inteview of Defendant Kight; and 5) Plaintiffsiedical records. Defendant Kight failed
to respond to Plaintiff's Motion.

On September 21, 2016, Judge Hall entered an Order addressing Plaintiff's Motion f
Default. Judge Hall noted that, for a party todritled to a default judgment in his favor, “there
must be a sufficient basis in the pleadings.” (Doc. 33, p. 5 (citation and alteratittedpmi
Judge Hall also noted the Court had to be satisfied that Plaintiff'goleellfacts provided for the
Court’s jurisdiction, the Defendant’s liability, and Plaintiffs damagesld.) ( Judge Hall
determinedPlaintiff's well-pledfacts established this Court’s jurisdiction and Defendant Kight's
liability, (id. at pp. 59), but Plaintiff's claims for damages menot in a sum certainid( at p.

10). Judge Hall recognized Plaintiff's compensatory damageshat to be $72,360.00, but
the Court could not conclude this estimate adbkgitimate basis for a damage awardd. ét p.

11.) Thus, Judge Hall diceedthe undersigned to conduct necessary proceedings to recommet
an amount for Plaintiff's damages, attorney’s fees, and costs, and Jutidefetaed final ruling

on Plaintiff's Motion until that time. Id. at p. 12.) Judge Hall advised Plaintiff he should be
prepared to submit evidence as to: 1) his physical pain and suféerihghental and emotional
distress experienced; 2) the impairment to his vision caused by Defendans kKagtdns and
the impact on his earning capacégd future medical care) 8he maliciousness of Defendant
Kight's conduct; and 4) Plaintiff's legal fees and costd.) (Defendant Kight was served with a

copy of this Order. (Dkt. Entry dated Sept. 21, 2016.)

[o}




The Court held an evidentiary hearing Bebruary?1, 2017, and Defendant Kight was
notified of this hearing. (Dkt. Entry dated Jan. 25, 2DIHlaintiff and his attorney, Jacqueline
Piland, appeared at this hearing and presented evidence, testimony, and angwmeport of
Plaintiff's damages claims, attorney’s fees, and costs. The Court provided Ms. Rildndn
additional fourteen (14) days to supplement the record. Defendant Kight did not apple&r for t
hearing or otherwise inform the Court of any oppositfe@reto

DISCUSSION

In deciding a motin for default judgmenit “[dJamages may only be awarded if the

record adequately reflects the basis for the award through a hearingadeddetffidavits

establishing the necessary factsCarrier v. Jordaan, 746 F. Supp. 2d 1341, 1352 (S.D. Ga

2010) (citing Bardfield v. Chisholm Prop. Circuit Events, LLC, No. 3:09cv232, 2010 WL

2278461, at *7 (N.DFla. May 4, 2010) Awarding money damages is not appropriate “without
a hearing unless the amount claimed is a liquidated sum or onelecajamathematical

calculation.” Adolph Coors Co. v. Movement Against Racisnih® Klan 777 F.2d 1538, 1543

(11th Cir.1985). “While ‘[a]n evidentiary hearing is not@er se requirement,’the Eleventh
Circuit [Court of Appeals] has made clear thaud hearings are required in all but ‘limited
circumstances,” as when the district court already has a wealth of evidencegh&oparty
requesting the hearing, such that any additional evidence would be truly unnetessanily
informed determination afamages$’ Jordaan 746 F. Supp. 2d at 1352 (quotiBEC v. Smyth

420 F.3d 1225, 1232 n.13 (11th G005) in turnquotingKPS & Assocs. v. Designs by FMC,

Inc., 318 F.3d 1, 21 (1st Cir. 2003)).

! As noted above, a court must determine whether it has jurisdiction, a deferiddnility, and an
amount of damages in ruling on a motion for default judgment based on a plaintitfplek facts.
Judge Hall has already determirted Court has jurdiction and that Defendaitight’s liability has been
established. Thus, this Court’s analysis now focuses only on a discussion oéslamag




“Even in the default judgment conteX@] court hasaanobligation to assure that there is a

legitimate basis for angiamage award it enters.’Vision Bank v. Hill, No. 160333,2011 WL

250430, at *2 (S.D. Ala. Jan. 25 2011) (quotktheuseBusch, Inc. v. Philpot, 317 F.3d 1264,

1266 (11th Cir. 2003)).A court must ensure an award is @otcompletely unreasonable or

speculative amount][with no factual basis.”Anheuser Busc317 F.3d at 1266:[I]t remains

incumbent on plaintiff to provéhe amount of damages to which [he] is entitle®ision Bark,
2011 WL 250430, at *Zfirst alteration in original) “Indeed, a plaintiff must ‘show the Court

what [his] damages are, how they are calculated, and wherectmag from.” Id. (quoting

PNCEF, LLC v. Hendricks Bldg. Supply LLC, 740 F. Supp. 2d 1287, 1294 (S.D. Ala. 2010)).
l. Plaintiff's Damages

In his Motion, Plaintiff stimatedthat his potential income loss after his release from
prison relating to the loss of vision to Approximately $72,360.00. (Doc. 30, p. 1®aintiff
also stated he isnéitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000.0@. at p. 12.)
However, Plaintiff failed to include in his Motion any further amount or basis foragas
especially compensatory damages

Ms. Pilandre-introduced the evidence used in suppdrPlaintiff's Motion for Default
Judgment during the hearing. This evidence shBlamitiff received a hematoma on his right
eyelid, hemorrhaging in his right sinus, a head contusion, and a fracture ighhribital bone
as a result of Fugitt's and Bedant Kight'sassault (Doc. 306, p. 50.) Plaintiff was taken to a

local hospital and hastitches above his right eye for a “deep lacerationd. gt p. 53, 119




Doc. 302, pp.7-10.) In addition, Plaintiff presented with “total opacificatfonearly of the
right maxillary sinus which is secondary to trauma.” (Doc. 30-6, p. 126.)

Plaintiff underwent surgery on his right eye, including the placement of a metal plate, ¢
May 30, 202, at Augusta State Medical Prisom an effort to repair higight orbital floor
fracture with diplopia (double vision) on upward gaz#l. &t pp. 25, 36) Almost a year later,
Plaintiff presented to the medical unit at Smith State Pngtim decreased range of motion in
his neck and chronic pain his neck ad back and he was diagnosed with cervical neck spasms.
(Id. at p. 62.) Plaintiff reported to having no neck or back pain prior to the assddltat (. 68.)
Nearly two years after the assault, Plainttimplained of having blurred vision He was
diagnosed with decreased visual acuity[,]and had 20/70 vision without glasses(ld. at
pp. 61-62 93) Plaintiff later received a prescription for safety bifocal glasseduly 2015.
(Id. & p. 143.) Dr. Elizabeth Miller, an oplalmologist with the Georgia Eye Instituten
Savannah, Georgia, submitted a declaration and opiéer reviewing Plaintiff's medical
records and in light of the trauma Plaintiff suffered, titas unlikely [Plaintiff] will regain the
kind of vision and eye movement he had before the injury.” (Doc. 30-3, p. 3.)

Plaintiff declaredin support of his Motion for Default Judgmetitat Fugitt and

Defendant Kighescorted him down the hall while he was handcuffed and had control over him.

(Doc. 302, p. 2.) Plainff stated he rememberédving an exchange of words with one or both
of these men and themaving his head slammed intbe floor. (d. at p. 3.) Plaintiff lost

consciousness and was getting stitches when he woke up in the hospital and could naifsee g

2 Total opacification of the maxillary sinus is a symptom of acute sinusitich can be caused by
structural variations in the nasal cavitikeferencehttps://www.reference.com/health/tctapacification-
maxillary-sinus-7d346af3df0d694kastvisitedMar. 7, 2017).

® In April 2014, Plaintiff's visual acuity, uncorrected, in his right eye was ZDAG 20/70 in his left
eye. (Doc. 30-6, p. 93.)
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his right eye because it was swollen shudl.) (Once the swellingecreasedPlaintiff could see

out of his right eye, yet he had double and blurred vision. Plaintiff averred that he could r
control the movement of his right eye for a time after &ssaultand it looked like his eyeball
was detached from his body when he looked in a mirror. Plaintiff stated heaxpezienced
problems like this before the assaultd.) Plaintiff also stated he experienced physical pain

he never had before after this assault, including having a broken nose and eye rsotikeshgt

in his head that made him feel his head would explode, radiatinggrainextreme pain when
making even simple movements.ld.(at pp. 34.) Though Plaintiff could not expres$ss
emotions, he stated he was more guarded and less trusting of authority figurdsssattack.
Additionally, Plaintiff declared he worked in the construction fiehtluding as a weldeprior

to his incarceratiorand all of the jobs he held require good hand-eye coordination. Plaintiff als
declared he did not believe he could perform the same kind of work that he oramedhaduld

at least be at a disadvantage in trying to obtain these sorts of jobsat . 5.) Despite his
injuries, Plantiff stated he has been able to takdvantage of the training and educational
programs offered in the prison systemn fact, Plaintiff obtained his general educational
developmentliploma (“GED”)and completed 960 hours of building maintenance regale in
prison. (d. & at p. 13, 15.) Plaintiff plans on going to school and learning how to be a crang
operator after his releade(Doc. 304, p. 3.) However, Plaintiff recognizes that, to become a
crane operator, he must pass a physical examination, which often has a vision compdrient, a
worries his injuries and vision will make it harder to obtain a job as a crarst@per any other

job in the construction field.ld.)

* Plaintiff is currently in a reentry programand has the option of applying to be released to a transitional
center or halfway house in July 2017. His tentative parole month is January 209 3@E#, pp. 23-)
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In addition, Plaintiff testified during the evidentiary hearing before the tGoatr he had
20/20 vision prior to the excessive use of force incident. Plaintiff had to undergoysuarger
attempt to restore higsion, induding the implantatiof a metal plate in his right orbital bane
He wasalso housed at Augusta State Medical Prison for nearly five months’ ditee this
incident to receive care and treatment for his injurieow, however, Plaintiff's vision
continuesto deteriorateand he has no peripheral vision on his right sidéstill suffers from
double vision. In fact, Plaintiff testified that he has been prescribed a new pair of glaskes wi
thicker lenses every year since he was assaulkédreover, Faintiff reported that he cannot
breathe througlone side of his nosend althoughhe can smellhe is more susceptible to colds
and sinus issuesAdditionally, Plaintifflost some ohis teethas a result of the incidé and had
dental work performed Plaintiff further testified thate continues experiencing pain in his neck
and back Specifically, Plaintiff stated his neekd back pain reachlevel of an eight on a scale
of one to ten if he has been workiagd a four if he has not been working. In addition, Plaintiff
testified the pain associated with having surgery on his orbital area was a ten, but is now 3
three yet it took about a year and a h#df this areato stop hurting so badly Plantiff also
stated his scar is visible from his surgeapd he stated his eye looks “off” when he looks into
the mirror or that he looks wall-eyed.

Plaintiff also testified that he was diagnosed with ji@simatic stress disorder (“PTSD”)
as a result of the assaudind hetakes two medication® control thenervousness and anxiety he
has experienced as a result of the ass&l#intiff visits a mental health counselor once a month.
In fact, Plaintiff asserted he is housed at Augusta State Medical Prisoredtmént of his
mental healthconcerns. Plaintiff stated he felt a little overwhelmed after the assault and hag

feelings of hopelessness for about two years after the asgalditionally, Plaintiff stated he




had nightmares frequently aftdret assaultand he still has nightmares on occasion. Further
Plaintiff testified to feeling depressed at timd3aintiff stated he did not suffer from any mental
health conditions prior to the assault. Plaintiff expressed his feeling thahd2eft Kght
intended to hurt and embarrass Plaintiff and acted purposefully to cause him harm.

Finally, Plaintiff testified thathe would like to resume his work as a welder or in the
construction business once he is released from prison, zanmet see wellrough to weld,
even while he is wearing his glasséde explained the he hasperienced this limitation while
being placed on work detail followirthe assault Plaintiff expressed concern that his neck and
back issues may also prevent him from getting a job he wants upon his release, thoaghketo a |
extent than his vision problemsll. Plaintiff asserted he made $21.50 an hour as a welder prio
to going to prison (about ten years ago) and that he was m3kh@0 per hour as a framer.
Plaintiff stated that, without the limitations caused by the asdailmay be able to work as a
crane operatgiand crane operators can make up to $35.00 per hour.

A. Damages Attributable to Plaintiff's Physical Pain and Suffering and Mersl
and Emotional Distress

Plaintiff provided compelling testimony regarding his physical pain and sujfeas well
as his mental and emotional distresssulting from Defendant Kight's assaahd use of
excessive force under the Eighth Amendmethe. described witlsufficientdetail the difficulties
he has suffered without any apparent embellishmienaddition, Plaintiff submitted his medical
records from the date of the assault through the year 2015. (Ddc) 3Do be clear, the
evidence before the Courtveds Plaintiff suffered from excruciating physical pain in the weeks
and months immediately following his assauRlaintiff continues to experience physical pain,
though admittedlynot as severe as it once wab) addition, Plaintiff presently suffers fro

mental health issudbat he did not have prior to the assault.
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“Compensatory damages under 8 1983 may be awarded only for actual injuries gauseq
the defendantsillegal conduct and cannot be based on the abstract value of the constitutior

rights hat were violated. McKissick v. Commt, Ga. Dept of Corr, 587 F. App’x 567, 57374

(11th Cir. 2014) (citing Slicker v. Jackson, 215 F.3d 1225, 42B@11th Cir.2000);see also

Whiting v. Traylor, 85 F.3d 581, 586 & n.10 (11th Cif96) (explaning recovery of Section

1983 damages is limited to those injuries proved to be caused by the def¢ndant®r the
Prison Litigation Reform Act (PLRA"), a prisoner may not bring a federal civil action for
damages for mental or emotional injury suffered while in custody absent a shafwhgsical

injury. 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(e); Harris v. Garner, 190 F.3d 1279,-B837.290 (11th Cir1999,

vacated, 197 F.3d 1059 (11th Cid999) (en banc);einstated in relevant part, 216 F.3d 970,
972, 985 (11th Cir. 2000) (en band}laintiff has certainly suffered physical injury and is
entitled to recover compensatory damages for both physical pain andnguéied mental and
emotional distressesulting from Defendant Kight's excessive use of ford@ased on the
evidenceand weltpleaded factbefore the Courtt RECOMMEND the Court awardPlaintiff
$100,000.00n compensatory damagés physical pain and suffering and mental and emotional
distress’

B. Damages Attributable to the Impairment of Plaintiff's Vision, Including his
Earning Capacity and Future Medical Care

As noted above, Plaintiff had “perfect”, or 20/2@sion prior to this assaultHowever,
Plaintiff's vision has since deteriorat@hd continues to do so on a yearly basis. Moreover,

Plaintiff testified that, although he would like to return to work as a welder upondasegrom

®> The Courtmakes the recommendation despite the facthisatounsel did not submit a specific request
for damageslerivingfrom Plaintiff’'s pain and sufferingnd mental and emotional distre$éevertheless,
the evidence before the Court overwhelmingbtablishes thaPlaintiff is entitled to compensatory
damagesis a measure of recovery for his extensive physical and emotional injuries, despiterfeyst
failing to specifically monetize thirelief.
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prison (perhaps as early as July 2017), his vision is at such a state he lyilbdikenable to do

so. He testified that it is more likely that his capacity for work will be limited to that of a
construction laborer.Plaintiff will need an eye examination and new prescription eyeglasses
each year. In additiorPlaintiff is on medication for his mental health issues resulting from theg
assaultand sees a mental health counselor once a month. There is nothing before the C
indicating Plaintiff’'s needs for mental health care will cease in the near futoteerwise upon

his release from prison.

According tothe United States Department of LaboBureau of Labor Statistics, the

currentmedianhourly ratefor a welder is $18.34 per hour, $88,150.00per annum.51-4121

Welders, Cutters, Solderers, and Brazers, U.S. Department of Labor, BuredooSlatistics,

https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes514121.hilast modified Mar. 30, 2016).° The current

median hourly rate for a construction laborer$id5.340r $31,91000 per annum. 47-2061

Construction Laborers U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics,

https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes472061.h{fast modified Mar. 30, 2016). Assuming

Plaintiff can returnd his work as a construction laborer but not as a welder because of his visi
problems, he will earn $3.00 less an hour or $6,240.00 less peaasyaaronstruction laboreif
Plaintiff is released from prison next year, he will have twenty moresywawork until he

reaches retirement ageRetirement & Survivors Benefits: Life Expectancy Calculatocial

Security, https://www.ssa.gov/cgi-bin/longevity.¢glast visited Mar. 7, 2017. Given these

figures, Plaintiff faces losing $124,800.00 in income he could have made over the course g
twenty-year period ($6,240.00 per year multiplied by twenty yeassh result of his vision

problems.

® The Court notes Plaintiff's testimony that he was making $21.50 per hour as a wald&0) years
ago. However, Plaintiff failed to submit any evidence supporting this hotely ra
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Further, Plaintiff's life expectancy currently is §2ars of age.Id. Again, assuming
Plaintiff is released from prison in 2018, he willfbeancially responsible foforty (40) years of
future medical expenses due to his vision problems. Counsel presented evidencentifat Pla
must wear eyeglasses whifocal lenses. At a conservative estimate, these lenses cost $200.(
and Plaintiff will have that cost, as well as any correlating eye examin@iicn conservative
cost of $100.0@er examinatio)) every year for forty(40) years’ time. (SeeDoc. 41, Pl.’s Exh.
3.) Usingthese figures, Plaintiff's future medical expenses for eye careegitth $12,000.00
($300.00 per year multiplied by for¢g0) years)

Additionally, assumingdPlaintiff will continue to need mental hdalcare for thdirst ten
years after his release from prison, which would include thes afshis medications and
monthly vists to a mental healthoanselor, Plaintiff will haveestimatedadditional future
medical expense®garding his mental health eazoncernsf $13,000.00.

Based on these figures, RECOMMEND the Courtaward Plaintiff $25,000.00for
future medical expensesd$124,800.00n lost income

C. Damages Attributable to the Maliciousness of Defendant’s Conduct

Judge Hall has already determined Defendant Kight is liable for violating Rlaintif
Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment. (Doc. 339ppThe
well-pleaded facts and evidence before the Court reveals that Defendant Kight acte
purposefully and maliciously in assaulting Plaintiff, and there was no other puwptss attack

other than tanjure Plaintiff. (Doc. 368.) Specifically, the DVD of the assault reveals that

" This figure is based on monthly visits to a mental health counselor ettéhef $100.00 per hour and
Plaintiff having to take two medicationas he testified, at theostof $4.00 amonth for eactgeneric
prescriptionand rounding up to the nearesbtiisand. In addition, the Court’s calculations do not take
into consideration whethdtlaintiff may need more extensive medicalmental healtltreatment in the
future as Plaintiff did not present any evidence to that end.
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Plaintiff was not physically resisting Fugitt oref2ndant Kightonce they began escorting
Plaintiff. Fugitt and Defendant Kight exchanged a knowing look with each other, and ea
former correctional officer sweine of Plaintiff's legs from under him and used their hands to
push Plaintiff to the concte floor with such force that Plaintiff was lying fadewn and
motionless for several mometits(ld. at 2:135:00.) Once Fugitt and Defendant Kight picked
Plaintiff off of the concrete floothe footage reveals that Plaintiff was lying in a pool ofdvis
blood and was wobbling tstand (Id. at 5:00.) Moreover, Defendant Kight attempted to
conceal his actions by lying about the events leading up to Plaintiff's assdillhe was
confronted with indisputable proof of his intentional actiofidoc. 305; Doc. 41, Pl.’'s Exh. 1,
p. 22.) When faced with the DVD footage, Defendant Kight attempted to minimize his sction
by telling the investigatothat, while he did not intend to injure Plaintiff, he believed putting
Plaintiff on the ground was justified. (Doc.-806:30.) Defendant Kight's actions served no
legitimate, penological purpose and were done with malicious intent. AwaglydPlaintiff
should be given an award of punitive damages based on Defendant Kight's actions.

“Punitive damages are generally available for willful or intentional viatatiof a
common law or statutory duty, and their purpose is to punish and deter the wrongdoer nather

to compensate the aggrieved party.” Snapp v. Unlimited Concepts, Inc., 208 F.3d 928, 934 (1

Cir. 2000). “Punitive damages are relief other than compensatory monetary damags

Therefore, punitive damages are prospective reli@dhnson v. Breeden, 280 F.3d 1308, 1325

(11th Cir. 2002). Thus, punitive damages are limigd.8 U.S.C. 8§ 3626(a)(1)(A)ld. Title

3626 provides, in relevant part, “Prospective relief in any civil action with respegrison

8 The look exchanged between Fugitt and Defendant Kight was so brief, it appegrdad

communicated with each other prior to Plaintiff's escort that they wosél some measure of force
against Plaintiff. In addition, the use of force was so swift, Plainbffld/have been comp#dy airborne
but for Fugitt and Defendant Kight having their hands on Plaintiff.
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conditions shall extend no further than necessary to correct the violation of thd Fgter a
paticular plaintff . . .. The court shall not grant or approve any prospective relief unless th
court finds that such relief is narrowly drawn, extends no further tharsseegeto correct the
violation of the Federal right, and is the least intrusive means necessaryeit toe violation

of the Federal right.” 18 U.S.C. § 3626(a)(1)(A).

Given the record before the CourRECOMMEND the Court award Plaintiff punitive
damages in the amount $25,000.00 This amount corresponds with not only the request madg
by Plaintiff but also the evidence before to the Codrhere is no evidence Defendant Kight
works in the correctional setting any longer. In fact, Defendant Kight wasntged from his
employment with the Georgia Department of Correctionday 24, 2012, and the warden at
Rogers State Prison requested that a “no rehire recommendation” be placeden Kixot. 41,
Pl's Exh. 1, p. 92.) Thus, it appears Defendant Kight is of limitdéshancial means.
Additionally, Plaintiff testified at the hearing that he never observedndafé Kight assault any
other inmates, and counsel stated that there was no evidence thatigadghexcessive force
against inmates oany otheroccasion Defendant Kight should undoubtedly have punitive
damages asssed against him, bytarticularlygiven that he is no longer in a position to assault
those under his charge, the Court finds $25,000.00 to befiaiesu deterrent to prevent
Defendant Kight from acting in the same or simiaannerin the future as he did against
Plaintiff.

. Attorney’s Fees

“In any action or proceeding to enforcé2 US.C. § 1983;'the court, in its discretion,

may allow the prevailing party, other than the Uditgtates, a reasonable attorsefed.]”

42 U.S.C. § 1988(b)."In any action brought by a prisoner who is confined to any jail, prison, of
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other correctinal facility, in which attorneys fees are authorized under section 198%s will
be awarded ifthe fee was directly and reasonably incurred in proving an actual violation of the
plaintiff's rights protected by a statute pursuant to which a fee may be awardedsectmn
1988 of this title”, and “the amount of the fee is proportionately related to theacdeared relief
for the violation[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(d)(1). “Whenever a ntanejudgment is awarded"a
portion of the judgment (not to exce@8 percent) shall be applied satisfy the amount of
attorneys fees awarded against the defendad? U.S.C.8 1997e(d)2). An attorney’s hourly
ratecan be “no greater than 150 percent of the hourly rate established under sectioroBOO6A
Title 18 for payment of court-appointed counsel42 U.S.C. § 1997e(d)(3).

Ms. Piland stated during the hearing that she had spent approximately-giggity28)
hours m this case over the course of two and a half weeks’ time, plus time she spent in Cqurt
during the hearing. Ms. Piland noted her-ofitourt time was expended in reviewing the
pleadings in this case, getting “up to speed”, and preparing for the Court’s fyebtyu2017,
hearing. However, Ms. Piland alsstated she attempted to contact Mr. Albert Wan, Plaintiff's
former counsel, in an attempt to ascertain his attorney’'s fees in this ddseWan was
Plaintiff's counsel at the time the ComplaiAimended Complaint, and Motion for Default were
filed. Nevertheless, Ms. Piland was unsuccessful in having Mr. Wan submit an affidather
documentation to indicate the number of hours he spent litigating this case. Thus, theilCourt

only consier Ms. Piland’s time in calculating an attorney’s fee award

° An attorney appointed under Section 3006A was originally to be paid no more than $66a0rgder
time spent in court and $40.00 per hour for time spent out of court..SL8. 3006A(d)(1). However,
the Judicial Conference has been authorized to raise theseldat@he Judicial Conference has done so
and allows for an hourly rate of $129.00 per hour in-capital cases and makes no distinction between
in-court and oubf-court time. http://jnet.ao.dcn/couervices/cjgpanel-attorneys-and-defenders/cja-
ratescage-compensatioimaximums/currentriminaljustice-actcja-ratesandcasecompensation
maximums last visited Mar. 7, 2017.
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Again, Ms. Piland stated she expended twegight (28) hours in out of court timan

this case.This appears to be a reasonable amount of time to spend on this case to have dong the

bare mininum required by the Court. In additiohetevidentiary hearing lasted approximately
one and onguarter hours. (Doc. 40Accordingly, Irecommendhe Court awar&5,659.88n

attorney’s feesor time spent by Ms. Pilantf

The Courtalsofinds Mr. Wan'’s 32 hours’' time to be reasonable. Mr. Wan drafted the

Complaint, Amended Complaint, and pleadings regarding the default of Defenddnt Kig
However, the Court assesses the hourly rate of $193.50, which is 150 percenpiviiiling
rate authorized by Sections 3006A and 1997e(d), rather than the $300.00 hourly rate reque
by Mr. Wan Thus, Irecommendhe Court award $6,192.00 attorney’s fee$or time spent by

Mr. Wan.

The Caurt should award totattorney’sfees in theamount 0f$11,851.88 Additionally,
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(d)(2), in the event Plaintiff recovers his award of cotopensa
damages$2,000.000f that recovey shall be applied to satisfy the amount of attorney’s fees
awarded againgdefendant.

II. Costs

Ms. Piland submitted a statement of costs associated with prosecuting thlesofaus
action. This invoice indicates Ms. Piland expended $1,318.86 in expenses from May 22, 20
through September 28, 2015. In addition, counsel expended $26.12 in Federal Express cha

(Doc. 41, Pl.’s Exh. 2.) Ms. Piland also stated during the hearing that she is k&in2g8 in

sted

'ges.

mileage fees, $39.35 in postage, and $389.10 for copies. These expenditures appear reasgnabl

1% This figure was calculated by multiplying 29.25 hours by $193.50 per hour.
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in light of the record before the Court, and there is a sufficient basis for ceumganditures.
Thus, IRECOMMED the Court award Ms. Piland costs in the amoui§2)074.71

In addition, Mr. Wan seeks reimbursement for the filing fee, materials needed oo his
hac vice admission, and a UPS mailing to the Court. (Doc232 Mr. Wan's fees are
reasonable in light of the record before the Court and were necessary for thenmamant and
prosecution of this case. AccordinghyRECOMMEND the Court award Mr. Wan costs in the
amount 0f$641.00

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, RECOMMEND the CourtGRANT Plaintiff's Motion for
Default andAWARD total damages, fees, and stein the amount 0f$289,367.59against
Defendant Kight and in favor of Plaintiff. This award should be apportioned as followg
$100,000.00n compensatory damages for physical pain and suffering and mental and emotiof
distress;$25,000.00for future medical expense$124,800.00in lost income;$25,000.00in
punitive damages$11,851.88 in attorney’s fees; and costs in the amount$@f715.71
Additionally, pursuant tat2 U.S.C. § 1997e(d)(2), in the event Plaintiff recoversaliard of
compensatory damage$2,000.000f that recovershall be applied to satisfy the amount of
attorney’s fees awarded agaittss Defendant.

The CourtORDERS any partyseeking to objedto thisReport and Bcommendatios
to file specific written objectionwithin fourteen (14) days of the date on which this Report and
Recommendatiors entered.Any objectionsasserting that th®lagistrateJudgefailed toaddress
any ®@ntentionraised in the Complaimhustalsobe included.Failure to do so will bar any later
challenge or review of the factual find® or legal conclusions of the Magistratelde. See28

U.S.C. 8§ 636(b)(1)(C); Thomas v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140 (1985)opy of theobjections must be
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served upon all other parties to the action. The filing of objections is not a proper vehiqg
through which to make new allegations or present additional evidence.

Upon receipt of ®jections meeting the specificity requirement setahdve, a United
States District Judgeill make ade novo determination of those portions of the report, proposed
findings, or recommendation to which objection is made and may accept, rejecdify m
whole or in part, the findings or recommendatiorede by théagistrate ddge. Objections not
meeting the specificity requirement set out\abwill not be considered by a Distriaidhe. A
party may not appeal a Magistrate Judgeeport and recommendation directly to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. Appeals may be made only fraral a fi
judgment entered by or at the direction of a District Judjee Court DIRECTS the Clerkof
Court to serve a copy of this Report and Recommendation upon the Plaintiff.

SO ORDERED and REPORTED and RECOMMENDED, this 8th day of March,

2017.

R. STAN BAKER
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
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